

RECEIVED: August 25, 2016 Accepted: September 12, 2016 Published: September 16, 2016

# Level/rank duality and Chern-Simons-matter theories

# Po-Shen Hsin<sup>a</sup> and Nathan Seiberg<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Physics, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, U.S.A.

E-mail: phsin@princeton.edu, seiberg@ias.edu

ABSTRACT: We discuss in detail level/rank duality in three-dimensional Chern-Simons theories and various related dualities in three-dimensional Chern-Simons-matter theories. We couple the dual Lagrangians to appropriate background fields (including gauge fields,  ${\rm spin}_c$  connections and the metric). The non-trivial maps between the currents and the line operators in the dual theories is accounted for by mixing of these fields. In order for the duality to be valid we must add finite counterterms depending on these background fields. This analysis allows us to resolve a number of puzzles with these dualities, to provide derivations of some of them, and to find new consistency conditions and relations between them. In addition, we find new level/rank dualities of topological Chern-Simons theories and new dualities of Chern-Simons-matter theories, including new boson/boson and fermion/fermion dualities.

KEYWORDS: Chern-Simons Theories, Duality in Gauge Field Theories, Nonperturbative Effects, Topological Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1607.07457

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>School of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study, 1 Einstein Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

Contents		
1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Preliminaries	6
	2.1 A brief summary of $\operatorname{spin}_c$ for Chern-Simons theory	6
	2.2 Some facts about $U(N)_{K,L}$	7
	2.3 An almost trivial theory $U(N)_1$	8
	2.4 A useful fact	9
	$2.5  \mathrm{SU}(N)_K$	10
3	Simple explicit examples of level/rank duality	12
	3.1 A simple Abelian example $U(1)_2 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-2}$	12
	3.2 A simple non-Abelian example $SU(N)_1 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N}$	13
	3.3 Gauging the previous example $U(N)_{1,\pm N+1} \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N\mp 1}$	14
4	Level/rank duality	15
	4.1 The basic non-Abelian level/rank duality	15
	$4.2  SU(N)_K \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N}$	16
	4.3 $U(N)_{K,N+K} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,-(N+K)}$	17
	4.4 $U(N)_{K,K-N} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,K-N}$	18
5	Boson/fermion duality in Chern-Simons-matter theories	19
6	New boson/boson and fermion/fermion dualities	22
	6.1 Boson/boson dualities	22
	6.2 Fermion/fermion dualities	23
	6.3 Self-duality of QED with two fermions	23
$\mathbf{A}$	Often used equations	26

# 1 Introduction

Level/rank duality is an interesting example of a surprising duality between two different theories based on two different set of variables. It is sufficiently simple and tractable that it can be established rigorously, and it seems related to other dualities that are harder to analyze.

One of the simplest contexts where this duality arises is in the theory of NK complex chiral fermions in two dimensions [1] (see also [2–5]). This leads to the equivalence of the chiral algebras

$$SU(N)_K \longleftrightarrow \frac{SU(NK)_1}{SU(K)_N},$$
 (1.1)

where the notation  $G_L$  represents the chiral algebra of G with level L and in the right hand side of (1.1) we have a GKO coset [6]. In the context of the corresponding three-dimensional Chern-Simons theory (1.1) is represented as the duality between theories based on the two Lagrangians

$$\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K} \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{SU(NK)_1/SU(K)_N} = \mathcal{L}_{(SU(NK)_1 \times SU(K)_{-N})/\mathbb{Z}_K}, \tag{1.2}$$

where we used the Chern-Simons Lagrangian description of coset models of [7]. (In section 4.1 we will present another Lagrangian for this coset theory.)

Other versions of level/rank duality are

$$SU(N)_{\pm K} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{\mp N, \mp N}$$

$$U(N)_{K,K\pm N} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,-N\mp K},$$
(1.3)

where  $U(N)_{K,K+NK'} \equiv (SU(N)_K \times U(1)_{N(K+NK')})/\mathbb{Z}_N$  (see section 2) and N, K > 0.

Orientation-reversal exchanges the two dualities in the first line of (1.3). The two dualities in the second line of (1.3) are mapped to themselves under orientation-reversal (the left hand side and the right hand side of the dualities are exchanged). Three of these dualities are well known (see e.g. the analysis of the Chern-Simons theory in [8–10] and in [11] and the discussion of the cohomology of the Grassmannian [12]), but as far as we know, the fourth duality

$$U(N)_{K,K-N} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,-N+K}$$
 (1.4)

is new.

Although the dualities (1.3) are common, they lead to several puzzles.

- 1. The two-dimensional central charges (and correspondingly the three-dimensional framing anomaly) do not match between the two sides of these dualities. What should we add to them in order to fix it?
- 2. The chiral algebra of a standard two-dimensional rational conformal field theory includes only integral-dimension operators. This is true in  $SU(N)_K$  for all K,  $U(N)_{K,K}$  for even K, and  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N}$  for odd K (see section 2). Correspondingly, the three-dimensional Chern-Simons descriptions of these theories do not depend on the choice of spin structure. This is not true in the other theories in (1.3). They are spin-Chern-Simons theories and depend on the choice of spin structure. How can a non-spin Chern-Simons theory be dual to a spin Chern-Simons theory?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Ordinary, non-spin Chern-Simons theories are independent of a choice of spin structure and the spin theories depend on that choice. The spin theories include a line with half-integral spin (hence it is nontrivial), which is transparent, i.e. it has no braiding with all the lines in the theory. This line does not decouple from the rest of the theory, because it can be obtained by fusing other lines. We can consider such a transparent line also in the non-spin theories, but it decouples from the rest of the theory. It is intrinsically gravitational. A useful example to keep in mind is  $U(1)_K$  Chern-Simons theory with the Lagrangian  $\frac{K}{4\pi}bdb$ . For even K this theory is not spin and does not depend on the choice of spin structure. For odd K this is a spin theory. Quantizing this theory with any K on a Riemann surface leads to  $K^h$  states, where h is the genus. But the expression for the number of independent line observables depends on Kmod 2. For even K there are K lines  $e^{in \oint b}$  with the line  $e^{iK \oint b}$  being trivial. For odd K the line  $e^{iK \oint b}$  is transparent and its spin is half-integral. Therefore, it is non-trivial and the theory with odd K has 2K distinct lines. For more details see, e.g. [13, 14].

3. Consider the cases where the two sides of the duality (1.3) do not depend on the choice of spin structure, i.e. the first duality with even N and the second duality with odd N and K. Even here, the two-dimensional conformal weights of the representations and correspondingly the three-dimensional spins of the line observables do not quite match between the two sides of the duality. They match only modulo one-half. This does not occur in (1.2). But it is puzzling in (1.3).

Below we will resolve these puzzles. First, we will add to all the non-spin theories in (1.3) an almost trivial, purely gravitational sector consisting of a single non-trivial line observable of spin one-half. This sector was discussed in [14] and will be reviewed in section 2.3. (In the condensed matter literature this sector is often denoted as  $\{1, f\}$ .) We can also try to add this sector to the spin theories in (1.3), but since they already include such a transparent line, this added sector does not change them. After these additions all the theories in (1.3) are spin theories. We will show that after this modification of (1.3) the second and third puzzle above are resolved.

Next, we will couple these theories to appropriate background fields. These includes ordinary U(1) gauge fields B, C, etc. a spin<sub>c</sub> connection A (see section 2.1) and a metric g. In order for the dualities (1.3) to be valid with the background fields present one needs to take into account two facts. First, the map between the background fields in the left hand side and the right hand side of the duality will be non-trivial. This will account for a non-trivial map of the line observables. (Because of this non-trivial map one cannot simply factor out the decoupled sector with the transparent line; the duality map mixes the two sectors.) Second, as in [15], we will have to add appropriate finite counterterms constructed out of the background fields. These counterterms will ensure that the theories are mapped correctly and they will also account for the discrepancy in the framing anomaly mentioned in the first puzzle above.

Related dualities were found in  $\mathcal{N}=2$  supersymmetric theories in three dimensions [16–19]. These theories contain matter fields coupled to gauge fields with Chern-Simons terms. There is enormous evidence supporting these dualities, but they cannot be rigorously derived.<sup>2</sup> These theories contain both fermions and bosons and they clearly depend on the choice of spin structure. Therefore, the second question above does not arise. However, when the matter fields are given masses and are integrated out, these theories lead to the topological theories (1.3) and we still need to add the appropriate, transparent, spin one-half line.

One approach to finding non-supersymmetric dualities is to study Chern-Simons theories coupled to matter in the fundamental representation with large N and large K with fixed N/K. In some cases two different theories, one of them is fermionic and the other is bosonic were found [20–22] to be dual to the same gravitational Vasiliev theory (see e.g. [23]). Another approach to finding such non-supersymmetric dualities with finite Nand K is based on starting with a pair of dual supersymmetric theories and turning on a relevant operator that breaks supersymmetry. If the flow to the infra-red is smooth, we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The new level/rank duality (1.4) has not been embedded in this context. But our discussion below can be repeated there and it leads to new supersymmetric dualities enjoying the same nontrivial tests.

should find a non-supersymmetric duality [24, 25]. Motivated by this whole body work and the map between baryon operators and monopole operators in these theories [26] (see below) Aharony conjectured [27] three boson/fermion dualities and adding to it a new duality, which is motivated by (1.4) we will discuss:

$$N_f$$
 scalars with  $SU(N)_K \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $U(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2}}$   
 $N_f$  scalars with  $U(N)_K \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $SU(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2}}$   
 $N_f$  scalars with  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N} \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $U(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2},-N\mp K+\frac{N_f}{2}}$ . (1.5)

Here the matter fields are in the fundamental representation of the gauge group and it is implicit that the scalars  $\phi$  are at a  $|\phi|^4$  fixed point. In addition, we can reverse the orientation of our manifold (apply time-reversal) and obtain four other dualities, which differ from (1.5) by an overall sign change of all the subscripts (the levels). Finally, the  $N = K = N_f = 1$  version of these dualities were analyzed and coupled to appropriate background fields in [14, 28, 29], thus providing further evidence that they are right.

One of the common tests of a duality is that the theories in the two sides of a duality must have the same global symmetry. Furthermore, the correlation functions of the currents of the global symmetry must be the same in the two dual theories. These statements apply to ordinary continuous global symmetries and to Poincare symmetry, where the associated current is the energy momentum tensor. A useful tool to study these correlation functions is based on coupling the system to classical background gauge fields for these symmetries. This can be done also for discrete global symmetries. Then, the partition functions as a functionals of these background fields must match in the two dual theories. This matching guarantees that the correlation functions of the currents both at separated points and at coincident points are the same in the two dual theories.

It is often the case that a naive way of coupling the dual theories to background fields does not lead to the same contact terms. In that case, the proper map between the two dual theories involves also added appropriate counterterms in one side of the duality. These counterterms should be local, well-defined functionals of the background fields. In our case these will be Chern-Simons terms in the background fields [15]. And as with all Chern-Simons terms, their coefficients must be properly quantized.

These added background fields with their proper counterterms also allow us find new dualities. More explicitly, we denote a duality between theories described by the Lagrangians  $\mathcal{L}_1[B]$  and  $\mathcal{L}_2[B]$  that depend on the same background fields B (and include appropriate counterterms) as

$$\mathcal{L}_1[B] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_2[B]$$
. (1.6)

We can transform the Lagrangians to new Lagrangians that describe new theories  $\mathcal{L}'_1[C]$  and  $\mathcal{L}'_2[C]$  and maintain the duality

$$\mathcal{L}'_1[C] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}'_2[C]$$
. (1.7)

These operations include [30]

$$T: \mathcal{L}[B] \to \mathcal{L}'[B] = \mathcal{L}[B] + \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB$$

$$S: \mathcal{L}[B] \to \mathcal{L}'[C] = \mathcal{L}[b] - \frac{1}{2\pi}bdC,$$
(1.8)

where T adds a counterterm for the background field B and S promotes B to a dynamical field b and couples it to a new classical background field C. These satisfy  $S^2 = (ST)^3 = C$ , where C acts as charge conjugation  $B \to -B$ . On a spin<sub>c</sub> manifold odd powers of T-operation require a spin<sub>c</sub> connection (more in section 2.1). We can also perform orientation-reversal on the two sides of the duality and we can use other known dualities. Performing a sequence of such operations on a given duality (1.6) we can generate many new dualities (1.7).

One of the main points of this note will be to couple the dualities (1.1)–(1.5) to background fields with appropriate counterterms. This will allow us to resolve the puzzles mentioned above. It will also allow us to use the rigorously derived duality (1.1), (1.2) to derive a more precise version of the dualities (1.3), to relate the dualities (1.5), and to find new Chern-Simons matter dualities.

We should mention our notations. We will use an equal sign between two Lagrangians  $\mathcal{L}_1 = \mathcal{L}_2$  when they are the same as functionals of the fields and we will use an arrow  $\mathcal{L}_1 \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_2$  when as functionals they are different (they might even be functionals of a different number of fields), but the theories described by the two Lagrangians are dual; i.e.  $\mathcal{L}_1$  and  $\mathcal{L}_2$  lead to the same physics. All our background fields (except the metric g) will be denoted by upper case letters and all dynamical fields by lowercase letters. A will denote a background spin<sub>c</sub> connection (see below) and all other gauge fields will be standard gauge fields.

In section 2 we will review and extend some preliminary background material. We will review the notion of a spin<sub>c</sub> connection and some facts about U(N) Chern-Simons theories and in particular the almost trivial theory  $U(N)_1$ . We will also discuss  $SU(N)_K$  and will show how to couple it to background fields.

Sections 3–6 will present various dualities with increasing level of complexity and decreasing level of an explicit map between them.

Section 3 will discuss a number of dualities, which can be derived by an explicit and elementary change of variables. Section 4 will be devoted to the dualities (1.1) and (1.3). The first of them is rigorously established, but there is no known explicit change of variables between the two dual theories. Then, given (1.1) we will derive a more precise version of (1.3).

Section 5 addresses the conjectural boson/fermion dualities (1.5) and section 6 will present several boson/boson and fermion/fermion dualities obtained from the conjectural boson/fermion dualities in section 5. Among other things we will use our conjectured dualities to find a derivation of the self-duality of QED with two fermions [31]. That duality is closely related to the mirror symmetry of the  $\mathcal{N}=4$  supersymmetric version of that theory [32] and it has many generalizations and extensions including to certain  $\mathcal{N}=2$  dualities [33].

For convenience we collect many of the equations we use often in an appendix.

# 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 A brief summary of spin $_c$ for Chern-Simons theory

A spin<sub>c</sub>-connection A is characterized by

$$\int_{\gamma_2} \frac{dA}{2\pi} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\gamma_2} w_2(M) \bmod \mathbb{Z}, \tag{2.1}$$

for any 2-cycle  $\gamma_2$ . In particular 2A always has integral period and thus is a U(1) gauge field. For more details about the application of spin<sub>c</sub> connections to this problem, see e.g. [13, 34]. There it was also related to the spin/charge relation of condensed matter physics.

We will use the gravitational Chern-Simons term

$$\int_{M=\partial X} \mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}} = \pi \int_{X} \widehat{A}(R) = \frac{1}{192\pi} \int_{X} \operatorname{tr} R \wedge R, \qquad (2.2)$$

where X is a bulk four-manifold, whose boundary is our spacetime M. For a given M different non-spin X can lead to different  $\int_M \mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}}$ , which differ by  $\pi \mathbb{Z}/8$  and therefore only  $\exp(16i \int_M \mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}})$  is meaningful.

The framing anomaly of  $CS_{grav}$  will be important for matching the framing anomaly in the dualities we discussed later. If the framing of spacetime is changed by n units,  $\int_M CS_{grav}$  changes by  $n\pi/24$ .

Consider background U(1) gauge fields B, C, a background spin<sub>c</sub>-connection A, and a background metric. Integrals over linear combinations with integer coefficients of the terms of the following form are well-defined on a spin<sub>c</sub> manifold:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}BdC$$

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA$$

$$\mathcal{I}[g,A] \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi}AdA + 2CS_{\text{grav}}$$

$$16CS_{\text{grav}}$$
(2.3)

and therefore they are valid counterterms.<sup>3</sup> Finally, the relation to the Atiyah-Patodi-Singer  $\eta$ -invariant is  $\eta[g,A] = \left(\frac{1}{\pi} \int \mathcal{I}[g,A]\right) \mod 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Although we will often couple our theories to a background  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  connection A, in many cases the resulting theory will not depend on the details of A; we will be able to absorb a shift  $A \to A'$  by a U(1) field A' - A in an appropriate shift of other dynamical or background fields. The explicit coupling to A will serve as a reminder that our theory does not depend on a choice of spin structure and will allow us to transform correctly line operators in dual theories (see below).

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA = \mathcal{I}[g, A+B] - \mathcal{I}[g, A] + d(...)$$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}BdC = \mathcal{I}[g, A+B+C] - \mathcal{I}[g, A+B] - \mathcal{I}[g, A+C] + \mathcal{I}[g, A] + d(...)$$

$$16CS_{grav} = 9\mathcal{I}[g, A] - \mathcal{I}[g, 3A].$$
(2.4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In fact, all these terms can be expressed as linear combinations of  $\mathcal{I}[g,A]$  with appropriate values of A [13]

# 2.2 Some facts about $U(N)_{K,L}$

Throughout this section the integer N will be positive, but the integers K and K' can be positive or negative.

Define  $U(N)_{K,L}$  as

$$U(N)_{K,K+NK'} = \frac{SU(N)_K \times U(1)_{N(K+NK')}}{\mathbb{Z}_N}, \qquad (2.5)$$

which is consistent only for  $K, K' \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This is manifest when we write the corresponding Chern-Simons Lagrangian

$$\frac{K}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{K'}{4\pi} (\operatorname{Tr} b) d(\operatorname{Tr} b) , \qquad (2.6)$$

where b is a U(N) gauge field. From here it is also clear that the  $U(N)_{K,K+NK'}$  Chern-Simons theory depends on the spin structure, if and only if K+K' is odd.

We will be mostly interested in  $U(N)_{K,K}$  (K'=0), which we will abbreviate as  $U(N)_K$  and  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N}$   $(K'=\pm 1)$ .

Next, we couple these theories to background fields in such a way that they do not depend on the spin structure. Specifically, we couple the non-spin theories to a background  $\mathrm{U}(1)$  gauge field C and the spin theories to a background  $\mathrm{spin}_c$ -connection A. For  $\mathrm{U}(N)_K$  we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[b;C] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) dC \qquad \text{for even } K$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[b;A] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) dA \qquad \text{for odd } K.$$

$$(2.7)$$

These can be combined as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[b;C+KA] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) d\left(C + KA\right), \tag{2.8}$$

where the background field C + KA is U(1) for even K and a spin<sub>c</sub> connection for odd K. It is important to stress the difference between the two expressions in (2.7), which is not manifest in (2.8). The even K theory in (2.7) is non-spin, while the odd K theory is a spin theory. Correspondingly, the odd K theory has a transparent line observable with spin one-half. Below we will also turn the even K theory into a spin theory by adding to it a decoupled transparent line with spin one-half.

An important example is the special case of N=1

$$\mathcal{L}_{U(1)_K}[b; C + KA] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} b db + \frac{1}{2\pi} b d (C + KA) .$$
 (2.9)

It will be useful below that changing the orientation is the same as  $K \to -K$  with  $C \to -C$ ,  $A \to A$ . (If we view A as the electromagnetic field, then our definition of orientation change is what is normally called  $\mathcal{CT}$ ; i.e. time-reversal combined with charge conjugation.)

Similarly, for  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N}$ 

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[b;C] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] \pm \frac{1}{4\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) d(\mathrm{Tr}\,b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) dC \quad \text{for odd } K$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[b;A] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] \pm \frac{1}{4\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) d(\mathrm{Tr}\,b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) dA \quad \text{for even } K.$$

$$(2.10)$$

These can be combined as

$$\mathcal{L}_{U(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[b;C + (K\pm 1)A] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] \pm \frac{1}{4\pi} (\text{Tr} \, b) d(\text{Tr} \, b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr} \, b) d(C + (K\pm 1)A),$$
(2.11)

where the background field  $C + (K \pm 1)A$  is  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  for even K and U(1) for odd K. In the special case N = 1 this coincides with (2.9) with  $K \to K \pm 1$ . Note that (2.7)–(2.11) are consistent with (2.3).

Even though the Lagrangians (2.8), (2.11) depend on two background fields A and C, in fact the dependence is only on a certain linear combination of them. Therefore, for K even in (2.8) and K odd in (2.11) the Lagrangians depend only on an even multiple of A and as such the dependence on A can be absorbed in a redefinition of C. For K odd in (2.8) and K even in (2.11) A cannot be removed. But the dependence on the specific choice of A can be absorbed in C; the difference between the choices A and A' can be absorbed in a shift of C by a multiple of A - A', which is an ordinary U(1) field. (See the comment at the end of section 2.1.)

We can define monopole operators in the Chern-Simons theory by removing a point from spacetime and specifying the flux through a sphere around it. Because of the equations of motion that flux must be localized at points on the sphere, and we will take it to be at a single point. Therefore, the monopole operator can be thought of as creating a line with a trivial holonomy around it. In  $U(N)_K$  with even K this line has integer spin and therefore it is completely trivial. We can say that this monopole operator is a trivial bosonic operator; i.e. it is like the identity operator. In  $U(N)_K$  with odd K this operator is fermionic and it creates a transparent line with half-integral spin. This reflects the fact that the even K theory is non-spin and the odd K theory is a spin Chern-Simons theory. Correspondingly, the even K theory is coupled to a U(1) background field C and the odd K theory is coupled to a spinC connection C and the situation with  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N}$  is the opposite. Therefore the coupling to the background fields is also reversed, as in (2.10). Below we will couple these Chern-Simons theories to matter fields and then the monopole operators will be less trivial.

#### 2.3 An almost trivial theory $U(N)_1$

This is a slight generalization of appendix B in [14], where more details can be found.

The special case  $U(N)_1$  is almost trivial. When quantizing this topological quantum field theory on a Riemann surface the Hilbert space consists of a single state and the

partition function on any three manifold is a phase. So this theory is dual to a classical field theory

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_1}[A] \longleftrightarrow -N\mathcal{I}[g,A] = -\frac{N}{4\pi}AdA - 2N\mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}},$$
 (2.12)

where the arrow means that the two Lagrangians describe dual theories. This expression makes manifest the framing anomaly of the theory. When the theory is quantized on a manifold with a boundary anomaly considerations force us to place degrees of freedom on the boundary. One choice is placing N chiral Dirac fermions there.

These properties of the theory can be used to show that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(M)_{1}}[A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1}}[A] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(M+N)_{1}}[A], \qquad (2.13)$$

where we suppressed the dynamical gauge fields. We can extend the range of N and preserve this property by defining

$$\mathcal{L}_{U(-N)_{1}}[A] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{U(N)_{-1}}[A]$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{U(0)_{1}}[x, y; A] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{0}[x, y; A] \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{1}{2\pi}xd(y + A).$$
(2.14)

Below we will often use the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_0$ , but we will not use U(N) with negative N.

Even though these theories are almost trivial, they do have a non-trivial line observable. The Wilson line in the fundamental representation of  $\mathrm{U}(N)$  is a transparent line with spin one-half.

Because of (2.12) the theory based on the Lagrangian (2.14) is dual to a theory with vanishing Lagrangian. Yet, we will use  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$  as a Lagrangian to denote the fact that the theory includes a transparent line with spin one-half.

#### 2.4 A useful fact

We will often use the fact that the Chern-Simons theory based on

$$\mathcal{L}_{cv} = \frac{1}{2\pi} c dv \tag{2.15}$$

(with c and v U(1) gauge fields) is trivial [30].<sup>4</sup> Specifically, in many cases we will encounter a Lagrangian like

$$\mathcal{L}(v,\ldots) + \frac{1}{2\pi}cdv \tag{2.17}$$

with  $\mathcal{L}$  independent of c. Then, if the theory is non-spin, c acts as a Lagrange multiplier setting v to a pure gauge, which can be set to zero in  $\mathcal{L}$ . For example, when  $\mathcal{L} = \frac{L}{2\pi}vdv + \frac{L}{2\pi$ 

$$\mathcal{L}_{\left(\mathbb{Z}_{N}\right)_{K}}[x,y;A] = \frac{K}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{N}{2\pi}xdy + \frac{1}{2\pi}xdA \quad \text{for} \quad K \text{ odd}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\left(\mathbb{Z}_{N}\right)_{K}}[x,y;B] = \frac{K}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{N}{2\pi}xdy + \frac{1}{2\pi}xdB \quad \text{for} \quad K \text{ even},$$

$$(2.16)$$

where the theories with even K are non-spin and the theories with odd K are spin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This is the special case of N = 1, K = 0 of the Lagrangian for a  $\mathbb{Z}_N$  gauge theory of level K, whose Lagrangian is [35–37]

 $\frac{1}{2\pi}vde$  (with e a linear combination with integer coefficients of gauge fields), the fact that the integral over c sets v to zero can be seen explicitly by shifting  $c \to c - Lv - e$ .

If  $\mathcal{L}$  describes a spin theory, the situation is not that simple. For example, let  $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{4\pi}vdv + \frac{1}{2\pi}vdA$ , which is consistent with (2.3). Now we cannot shift c in (2.17) to eliminate the  $\frac{1}{4\pi}vdv$  term. Indeed, the theory  $\mathcal{L} + \frac{1}{2\pi}cdv$  is precisely the theory (2.14), which has a line with spin a half. However, remembering that the theory is a spin theory, we can still set v to zero, but we should remember that the resulting theory should include that spin a half line. One way to see that is to add to  $\mathcal{L}$  the theory  $\mathcal{L}_0$  (2.14) and replace (2.17) with

$$\mathcal{L}[v, c, x, y; A] = \frac{1}{4\pi}vdv + \frac{1}{2\pi}vdA + \frac{1}{2\pi}cdv + \frac{1}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{1}{2\pi}xd(y+A). \tag{2.18}$$

As we explained above, this does not change the theory. Now, we can change variables

$$\mathcal{L}[v, c+y, x-v, y+v; A] = \frac{1}{2\pi}cdv + \frac{1}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{1}{2\pi}xd(y+A)$$
 (2.19)

and see that we find the same answer as with v to zero. This can be generalized to general spin theory.

# $2.5 \quad \mathrm{SU}(N)_K$

Using our U(N) theories (2.7), (2.10) with background U(1) field C we can find the Lagrangians for SU(N) theories by promoting C to a dynamical field, which we will denote by c. These impose the constraint that Tr b is trivial. We can also use this Lagrangians to couple the SU(N) theory to new U(1) background fields B

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{K}}[b,c;B] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) d(\mathrm{Tr}\,b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} cd (\mathrm{Tr}\,b + B)$$

$$\epsilon_{K} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{K even} \\ 1 & \text{K odd and positive} \\ -1 & \text{K odd and negative.} \end{cases}$$
(2.20)

This Lagrangian remains consistent, if we shift the definition of  $\epsilon_K$  by an even (possibly K dependent) integer 2n. But then we can redefine  $c \to c - n(\operatorname{Tr} b - B)$  to shift  $\epsilon_K$  back to (2.20) and find instead a counterterm  $\frac{n}{2\pi}BdB$ . So the only freedom in the definition (2.20) is in the choice of this counterterm.<sup>5</sup> It is important to stress that c implements

$$\frac{K}{4\pi}\operatorname{Tr}\left[bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3}\right] + \frac{\epsilon_{K} + 1}{4\pi}(\operatorname{Tr}b)d(\operatorname{Tr}b) + \frac{1}{2\pi}cd(\operatorname{Tr}b + B) + \frac{1}{2\pi}(\operatorname{Tr}b)dA. \tag{2.21}$$

Unlike (2.20) the theory based on (2.21) is a spin theory. Therefore, we can follow section 2.4 and as in the discussion around (2.18), (2.19) we can add the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_0$  (2.14) without affecting the outcome and use a change of variables like (2.19) (with an appropriate shift of c by B) to find that (2.21) plus  $\mathcal{L}_0$  is the same as

$$\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K}[b, c; B] + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A] - \frac{1}{2\pi}AdB + \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB$$
. (2.22)

Therefore, gauging A in (2.7), (2.10) leads to the same theories as gauging C except that these are spin theories and we have to add some counterterms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Here we used (2.7), (2.10) and turned the background C into a dynamical field. What would have happened if we did the same thing starting with the equations with background A? Gauging it amounts to replacing  $A \to c + A$  with c a dynamical U(1) gauge field:

the constraint  $\operatorname{Tr} b = -B$ , but we cannot simply replace the term with  $\epsilon_K$  in (2.20) by  $\frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB$ . (See section 2.4.)

Note that with the definition (2.20) the theory with K is related to the theory with -K by a change of orientation combined with  $c \to -c$  (without transforming b and B).

For trivial B the Lagrangian (2.20) describes the standard non-spin  $SU(N)_K$  Chern-Simons theory. But the coupling of B leads to additional possibilities. If B is topologically nontrivial, then Tr b is nontrivial and correspondingly, the functional integral can receive its contribution from a nontrivial  $SU(N)/\mathbb{Z}_N$  bundle. Note that in an  $SU(N)/\mathbb{Z}_N$  theory we sum over such nontrivial bundles. Here, as our theory is an SU(N) gauge theory, we do not sum over such bundles. Instead, depending on B we have a given such bundle. We see that, as emphasized in [37],  $SU(N)/\mathbb{Z}_N$  bundles can appear as observables in the SU(N) theory. And here we control them using the background field B in (2.20).

We will find it useful to define

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_K}[b, c, x, y; B] 
\equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi}(c + KA)d(\text{Tr}\,b + B) + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A] + \frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB, \qquad (2.23)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$  is the almost trivial theory (2.14). Note that it is consistent with (2.3). For even K it is trivially the same as  $\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K}[B] + \mathcal{L}_0[A]$  (simply shift  $c \to c - KA$ ). For odd K this is not true, but these two theories are still related. To see that, follow the discussion around (2.19) and write

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_K}[b, c, x, y; B] = \mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K} \left[ b, c + \frac{1}{2} (K^2 - \epsilon_K) \text{Tr } b + \frac{1}{2} (K^2 + \epsilon_K) B - Ky; B \right] + \mathcal{L}_0[x + K(\text{Tr } b + B), y - K(\text{Tr } b + B); A], \qquad (2.24)$$

where the change of variables is valid because  $K^2 \pm \epsilon_K$  are even. This can be written as the duality

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_K}[B] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_K}[B] + \mathcal{L}_0[A],$$
 (2.25)

where we suppressed the dynamical fields.

We will often extend (2.23) and use the definitions

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_K}[B] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_K}[B] + \mathcal{L}_0[A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[B+KA] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[B+KA] + \mathcal{L}_0[A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] + \mathcal{L}_0[A].$$
(2.26)

As we said above,  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$  is dual to a theory with a vanishing Lagrangian, but we will use it to denote the fact that it has a transparent line with spin one-half. Therefore, our notation is such that there is a difference between the theory based on  $\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K}[B]$ , which is not spin and the theory based on  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_K}[B]$ , which is spin. The latter theory has twice as many line observables because it includes also the transparent line of  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$ . We should remind the reader that even though the presence of  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$  leads to the transparent line, the theory still does not depend on the choice of spin structure.

For the U(N) theories in (2.26) the situation is different. For K odd U(N)<sub>K</sub> is a spin theory and correspondingly, B+KA is a spin<sub>c</sub> connection and  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[B+KA]$  already includes the transparent line. Therefore, in this case  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[B+KA] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_K}[B+KA]$ . Similarly, for K even  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A]$ .

# 3 Simple explicit examples of level/rank duality

Here we discuss three simple dualities, which can be derived by a straightforward change of variables. They demonstrate several points, which will be essential below.

# 3.1 A simple Abelian example $U(1)_2 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-2}$

We start with

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{2}}[b;B] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-1}}[c;A] = \frac{2}{4\pi}bdb + \frac{1}{2\pi}bdB - \frac{1}{4\pi}cdc + \frac{1}{2\pi}cdA.$$
 (3.1)

A simple change of variables leads to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{2}}[b+c-B;B] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-1}}[c+2b-B;A]$$

$$= \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-2}}[b;B+2A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{1}}[c;A] - \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA,$$
(3.2)

thus establishing the duality

$$U(1)_2 \times U(1)_{-1} \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-2} \times U(1)_1, \qquad (3.3)$$

which we can write as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{2}}[B] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-1}}[A] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-2}}[B + 2A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{1}}[A] - \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA, \quad (3.4)$$

or, using (2.12) and the definition (2.26), as

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{2}}[B] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-2}}[B+2A] - \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA - 2\mathcal{I}[g,A], \qquad (3.5)$$

where we used  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)\pm 2}$  to remind ourselves that the theory includes a transparent line with spin one-half. As we commented at the end of section 2.1, neither side of the duality depends on the details of A; changing  $A \to A'$  can be absorbed in a redefinition of the dynamical fields. This duality was derived in [13] and was used in [14]. It had appeared earlier without the background fields and the essential counterterms in [38], where the theory of  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_2}[B]$  was denoted as  $\mathrm{U}(1)_2 \times \{1, f\}$  and was referred to as the semion/fermion theory.

We would like to make several comments about this duality, which will be useful below.

1. In the change of variables (3.2) the dynamical fields b and c transform as a valid linear combination of the dynamical fields and the background fields B and A. This change of variables preserves the fact that they are U(1) fields and therefore the coefficient of A must be even (it vanishes).

- 2. The background fields B and A also transform, but their transformations are independent of the dynamical fields. Also, they remain U(1) and spin<sub>c</sub> fields respectively.
- 3. The duality involves a nontrivial counterterm of the background fields. These terms are consistent with (2.3).
- 4. The form of the duality (3.5) might suggest to write it, up to counterterms, as  $U(1)_2 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-2}$ . Below we will often use such shorthand notation, but it should be emphasized that it is misleading. This duality is valid only when we include a transparent spin one-half line on both sides of the duality. It couples to A with charge one. This is manifest in (3.4), (3.5).
- 5. In the left hand side of (3.5) the background field B couples only to b and the background field A couples only to the transparent line. This is not true in the right hand side of the duality, where the dynamical  $\mathrm{U}(1)_{-2}$ ,  $\widetilde{b}$  field couples to B+2A. Explicitly, the line  $e^{i\oint b}$  of  $\mathrm{U}(1)_2$  carries charge  $-\frac{1}{2}$  under B and is neutral under A. (This follows from the equation of motion 2db+dB=0.) This should be contrasted with the basic line in the right hand side of the duality

$$e^{i\oint \widetilde{b}} = e^{i\oint (-b+c)}, \tag{3.6}$$

which carries charge  $\frac{1}{2}$  under B and charge 1 under A. This reflects the change of variables in (3.2) and the map (3.6). Such a nontrivial mapping of the lines will be common below and it is accounted for by the nontrivial map of the background fields.

6. It is instructive to see how orientation-reversal (or time-reversal) acts on (3.5). We let it act on the background fields as  $A \to A$  and  $B \to -B - 2A$  and then (3.5) is mapped to itself (after moving the counterterms to the left hand side).

# 3.2 A simple non-Abelian example $SU(N)_1 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N}$

The second simple duality involves non-Abelian fields. Consider (2.23) for K=1

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_{1}}[b, c, x, y; B] 
= \frac{1}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi}(c+A)d(\text{Tr}\,b+B) + \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + \mathcal{L}_{0}[x, y; A] 
= \mathcal{L}_{U(N)_{1}}[b+c\mathbb{I}; A] + \mathcal{L}_{U(1)_{-N}}[c; B-NA] + \frac{1}{2\pi}AdB + \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + \mathcal{L}_{0}[x, y; A], \quad (3.7)$$

which can be written, using (2.12), as

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_1}[B] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-N}}[B - NA] + \frac{1}{2\pi}AdB + \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB - N\mathcal{I}[g, A]. \tag{3.8}$$

All the comments we made after (3.5) are clearly true also here. (In fact, for N=2 the known relation  $SU(2)_1 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_2$  shows that the dualities (3.5) and (3.8) are the same.) In particular, the presence of a transparent spin one-half line and the dependence on A are essential. Below we will often abbreviate this duality in the misleading form

 $\mathrm{SU}(N)_1 \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{U}(1)_{-N}$ , but we should remember to keep in mind these subtleties. In order to remind ourselves about that, we prefer to use the notation  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_1}[B]$  as opposed to simply using  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_1}[B]$ . We would also like to point out that the two sides of the duality have a  $\mathbb{Z}_N$  one-form symmetry. In the left hand side it acts on  $\mathrm{SU}(N)_1$  and in the right hand side it acts on  $\mathrm{U}(1)_{-N}$ .

# 3.3 Gauging the previous example $U(N)_{1,\pm N+1} \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N\mp 1}$

We start with (3.8) and turn B into a dynamical field, which we denote by e and couple it to a U(1) background field C in the two sides. This is the operation S in (1.8) [30]. The left hand side becomes

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi}(c+A)d(\text{Tr}\,b+e) + \frac{1}{4\pi}ede - \frac{1}{2\pi}edC + \mathcal{L}_0[x,y;A]. \tag{3.9}$$

Integrating out c sets e = -Tr b and we have

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} (\text{Tr}\,b) d(\text{Tr}\,b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr}\,b) dC + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A] 
= \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1,N+1}}[b; C] + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A].$$
(3.10)

Repeating these operations in the right hand side of (3.8) we find

$$-\frac{N}{4\pi}udu + \frac{1}{2\pi}ud(e - NA) - \frac{1}{2\pi}edC + \frac{1}{2\pi}edA + \frac{1}{4\pi}ede - N\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$= \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)-N-1}[u; C - (N+1)A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_1}[e + u; A - C] - N\mathcal{I}[g, A].$$
(3.11)

This establishes the duality

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1,N+1}}[C] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-N-1}}[C - (N+1)A] - \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC + \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - (N+1)\mathcal{I}[g,A],$$
(3.12)

or more briefly  $U(N)_{1,N+1} \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N-1}$ .

In the special case N=1 we find the  $U(1)_2 \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-2}$  duality of section 3.1, so this is a generalization of that duality. All the comments we mentioned after equations (3.5) about that duality are applicable here.

We can repeat the discussion in this subsection after adding  $-\frac{1}{2\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}BdC$  to (3.8). In terms of (1.8) this is the transformation  $ST^{-2}$ . Then, instead of (3.10) the left hand side becomes

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] - \frac{1}{4\pi} (\operatorname{Tr} b)d(\operatorname{Tr} b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\operatorname{Tr} b)dC + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A] 
= \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1,-N+1}}[b; C] + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A].$$
(3.13)

And instead of (3.11) the right hand side becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = [u; -C - (N-1)A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)} = [e - u; A - C] - N\mathcal{I}[g, A]. \tag{3.14}$$

We derive the duality

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1,-N+1}}[C] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-N+1}}[-C - (N-1)A] + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC - \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - (N-1)\mathcal{I}[g,A],$$
(3.15)

or more briefly  $U(N)_{1,-N+1} \longleftrightarrow U(1)_{-N+1}$ .

# 4 Level/rank duality

#### 4.1 The basic non-Abelian level/rank duality

In order to avoid cluttering the equations we take N, K to be positive integers.

The  $SU(N)_K$  WZW model is known to be equivalent to the GKO coset [6]

$$SU(N)_K \longleftrightarrow \frac{SU(NK)_1}{SU(K)_N}$$
 (4.1)

It was rigorously proven and further discussed in [2–5]. Using the rules of [7] for writing coset theories in Chern-Simons theory we can write this duality as

$$SU(N)_K \longleftrightarrow \frac{SU(NK)_1 \times SU(K)_{-N}}{\mathbb{Z}_K}$$
 (4.2)

The Lagrangian for the left hand side is simply  $\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K}[B]$ . The Lagrangian for the right hand side can be written as an  $SU(NK)_1 \times SU(K)_{-N}$  Lagrangian and then mod out the gauge group by  $\mathbb{Z}_K$  by allowing additional bundles. Instead, we would like to follow our previous discussion and use  $U(NK) \times U(K)$  gauge fields b and u.

We write

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] - \frac{N}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ udu - \frac{2i}{3}u^3 \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ (\operatorname{Tr} b) - N(\operatorname{Tr} u) \right] d \left[ (\operatorname{Tr} b) - N(\operatorname{Tr} u) \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} cd \left[ (\operatorname{Tr} b) - N(\operatorname{Tr} u) \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (Kc + \operatorname{Tr} u) dB,$$
(4.3)

where c is a U(1) gauge field. The first two terms are as in the Lagrangians for  $U(NK)_1$  and  $U(K)_{-N}$ . The third term, which we will further motivate below, is such the  $U(NK) \times U(K)$  gauge theory is not a spin theory. First, let us ignore the term with B. The term with c correlates the gauge fields of  $U(1) \subset U(NK)$  and of  $U(1) \subset U(K)$ , thus removing one degree of freedom. Also, it states that the flux of Tr b is a multiple of N, which is needed for the identification of this Lagrangian with the right hand side of (4.2). Next, we consider the term with B. Now, nontrivial B can lead to a shift of the fluxes of b (as in the SU(N) theory).

The Lagrangian (4.3) was designed such that it is invariant under the one-form gauge symmetry [37, 39]  $b \to b + \xi \mathbb{I}$ ,  $u \to u + \xi \mathbb{I}$ ,  $c \to c - \xi$  with  $\xi$  a U(1) gauge field. (The third term in (4.3) and the coupling to B were motivated by this invariance.) This one-form gauge symmetry removes another degree of freedom and establishes that this Lagrangian describes the right hand side of (4.2).

The fact that the one-form gauge symmetry removes a degree of freedom can be made manifest by shifting  $b \to b - c\mathbb{I}$  and  $u \to u - c\mathbb{I}$  in (4.3) (or equivalently, fixing the gauge c = 0) to find

$$\mathcal{L}_{\frac{\mathrm{SU}(NK)_{1}}{\mathrm{SU}(K)_{N}}}[B] \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] - \frac{N}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ udu - \frac{2i}{3}u^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) - N(\mathrm{Tr}\,u) \right] d \left[ (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) - N(\mathrm{Tr}\,u) \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,u) dB \,. \tag{4.4}$$

As a check that this Lagrangian indeed describes  $\frac{\mathrm{SU}(NK)_1}{\mathrm{SU}(K)_N}$ , we can write the gauge group in (4.4) as  $\mathrm{U}(NK) \times \mathrm{U}(K) = \mathrm{SU}(NK) \times \mathrm{SU}(K) \times \mathrm{U}(1) \times \mathrm{U}(1) / \mathbb{Z}_{NK} \times \mathbb{Z}_{K}$ . The two U(1) factors in the numerator have a k-matrix

$$k = \begin{pmatrix} NK(1+NK) & -(NK)^2 \\ -(NK)^2 & NK(-1+NK) \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.5)

whose determinant is  $-(NK)^2$ . The fact that it is negative shows that these two U(1) factors do not contribute to the framing anomaly. Also, this value of the determinant shows that this Abelian sector has  $(NK)^2$  representations. Therefore, the number of representations of this  $SU(NK)_1 \times SU(K)_{-N} \times U(1) \times U(1)/\mathbb{Z}_{NK} \times \mathbb{Z}_K$  theory is the same as the number of representations of  $SU(NK)_1 \times SU(K)_{-N}/\mathbb{Z}_K$ .

Next, we would like to determine the coefficient of a BdB counterterm in the duality. The currents coupled to B in the  $SU(N)_K$  and the  $\frac{SU(NK)_1}{SU(K)_N}$  theories are

$$J_{SU(N)_K} = \frac{1}{2\pi} dc = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \frac{K}{N} + \epsilon_K \right) dB$$

$$J_{\frac{SU(NK)_1}{SU(K)_N}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} d\text{Tr } u = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left( \frac{K}{N} + K^2 \right) dB,$$
(4.6)

where we used the equations of motion to express them in terms of the classical background dB. Therefore, in order to match them across the duality we should add a Chern-Simons counterterm and write the duality as

$$\mathcal{L}_{SU(N)_K}[B] \longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\frac{SU(NK)_1}{SU(K)_N}}[B] + \frac{\epsilon_K - K^2}{4\pi} B dB.$$
 (4.7)

We should emphasize that this duality is a duality between two non-spin-Chern-Simons theories. Neither side of the duality depends on the choice of spin structure and the theories couple only to a background U(1) gauge field B; there is no need for a coupling to a spin connection A.

#### $4.2 \quad \mathrm{SU}(N)_K \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{U}(K)_{-N}$

Next, we would like to add the effect of the gravitational line in the duality (4.2), (4.7) by adding  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$  to the two sides. In the left hand side we now have  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_K}[B]$  (2.23). And in the right hand side we have the sum of the Lagrangian (4.4), the counterterm added

in (4.7) and  $\mathcal{L}_0[A]$ 

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] - \frac{N}{4\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ udu - \frac{2i}{3}u^3 \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[ (\operatorname{Tr} b) - N(\operatorname{Tr} u) \right] d \left[ (\operatorname{Tr} b) - N(\operatorname{Tr} u) \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} x dx + \frac{1}{2\pi} x d(y+A) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\operatorname{Tr} u) dB + \frac{\epsilon_K - K^2}{4\pi} B dB.$$
(4.8)

Substituting here  $b \to b - (x+y-KB)\mathbb{I}$ ,  $u \to u - (x+y-KB)\mathbb{I}$ ,  $x \to -x + \text{Tr } b - N \text{Tr } u + KB$ ,  $y \to y + x - \text{Tr } b + N \text{Tr } u - KB$  it becomes

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] - \frac{N}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ udu - \frac{2i}{3}u^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr} \, u) d(B - NA) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr} \, b) dA 
- \frac{1}{4\pi} x dx - \frac{1}{2\pi} x d(y + A) + \frac{K}{2\pi} B dA + \frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi} B dB 
= \mathcal{L}_{\text{U}(NK)_1}[A] + \mathcal{L}_{\text{U}(K)_{-N}}[B - NA] - \mathcal{L}_0[A] + \frac{K}{2\pi} B dA + \frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi} B dB .$$
(4.9)

We conclude that

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_K}[B] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N}}[B - NA] + \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA + \frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB - NK\mathcal{I}[g, A]. \tag{4.10}$$

As a check, note that for K=1 this agrees with (3.8), which was checked explicitly by a change of variables. Similarly, for N=1 the two sides of the duality are almost trivial theories, where all the dynamical fields can be integrated out. This leads to  $\frac{K+\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB$  in the two sides.

Finally, the orientation-reversal of (4.10) is

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{-K}}[B] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{N}}[-B+NA] - \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA - \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi}BdB + NK\mathcal{I}[g,A]. \tag{4.11}$$

(Equivalently, this can be derived by adding to the two sides of (4.10)  $-\frac{K}{2\pi}BdA - \frac{\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}CdB$ , promoting B to a dynamical field e, and then integrating it out. After  $C \to -B$ ,  $N \longleftrightarrow K$  and some rearrangement we end up with (4.11).)

# 4.3 $U(N)_{K,N+K} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,-(N+K)}$

Given the duality (4.10) we can derive additional dualities by adding counterterms to the two sides and turning the background fields to dynamical ones, i.e. using the operations (1.8). An example of that was mentioned after (4.11).

As another example, we add to the two sides of (4.10) the counterterm  $\frac{1-\epsilon_K}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}Bd(C+(K+1)A)$  with another U(1) background field C. Then we turn B into a dynamical field e. The left hand side of (4.10) becomes

$$\frac{K}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (c + KA)d(\text{Tr}\,b + e) + \frac{1}{4\pi} ede - \frac{1}{2\pi} ed(C + (K+1)A) + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A].$$
(4.12)

Integrating out c sets e = -Tr b and (4.12) becomes

$$\frac{K}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{4\pi} (\text{Tr} b)d(\text{Tr} b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr} b)d(C + (K+1)A) + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A] 
= \mathcal{L}_{U(N)_{K,N+K}}[b; C + (K+1)A] + \mathcal{L}_0[x, y; A].$$
(4.13)

The right hand side of (4.10) becomes

$$-\frac{N}{4\pi} \text{Tr} \left[ u du - \frac{2i}{3} u^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\text{Tr} u) d(e - NA) + \frac{1}{4\pi} e de - \frac{1}{2\pi} e d(C + A) - NK\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$= \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N,-N-K}}[u; C + (1-N)A] + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_1}[e + \text{Tr} u; -C - A] - NK\mathcal{I}[g, A]. \tag{4.14}$$

This establishes the duality

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,N+K}}[C+(K+1)A] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N,-N-K}}[C+(1-N)A] - \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC - \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - (NK+1)\mathcal{I}[g,A].$$

$$(4.15)$$

As checks, note that it is consistent with (2.3) and that for K=1 it coincides with (3.12). Also, under orientation-reversal combined with  $C \to -C - 2A$  the duality (4.15) is mapped to itself with  $N \longleftrightarrow K$ .

# 4.4 $U(N)_{K,K-N} \longleftrightarrow U(K)_{-N,K-N}$

Another duality is obtained by adding to the two sides of (4.10) the counterterm  $-\frac{\epsilon_K+1}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{1}{2\pi}Bd(C+(K-1)A)$  with another background field C, and promoting B to be a dynamical field e. After integrating out c and e the resulting duality is

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K-N}}[C+(K-1)A] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N,K-N}}[-C-(N-1)A] + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC - \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - (NK-1)\mathcal{I}[g,A].$$

$$(4.16)$$

We can set K = N in (4.16):

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{N,0}}[C+(N-1)A] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{-N,0}}[-C-(N-1)A] + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC - \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - (N^2-1)\mathcal{I}[g,A].$$

$$(4.17)$$

Since  $U(N)_{N,0} = [SU(N)_N \times U(1)_0]/\mathbb{Z}_N$ , the U(1) field does not have a quadratic term in (4.17). Integrating over it constrains the background field C + (N-1)A.<sup>6</sup> This leads to the duality:<sup>7</sup>

$$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(N)_N}{\mathbb{Z}_N} \longleftrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{-N}}{\mathbb{Z}_N}.\tag{4.19}$$

Finally, as another check of all the dualities (4.10), (4.11), (4.15), (4.16), the coefficient of  $\mathcal{I}[g,A]$  accounts for the difference in the framing anomaly between the Chern-Simons gauge theories in the two sides.

$$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(N)_N}{\mathbb{Z}_N} \longleftrightarrow \frac{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{-N}}{\mathbb{Z}_N} \times \frac{\mathrm{SU}(N^2)_1}{\mathbb{Z}_N}.$$
 (4.18)

For even N these theories are spin and for odd N they are non-spin. In the latter case  $SU(N^2)_1/\mathbb{Z}_N$  has only one representation and its framing anomaly is a multiple of 8. (For example,  $SU(9)_1/\mathbb{Z}_3 \longleftrightarrow E(8)_1$ .) Therefore, for odd N (4.18) can be written as  $SU(N)_N/\mathbb{Z}_N \longleftrightarrow SU(N)_{-N}/\mathbb{Z}_N$  without the need to add the transparent line.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Unlike the SU(N) theories discussed above, where the background field leads to SU(N)/ $\mathbb{Z}_N$  bundles, here the partition function includes a sum over such twisted bundles and the background field determines their relative phases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We could have started with (4.2) with N=K and mod it out by its  $\mathbb{Z}_N$  one-form symmetry to find

# 5 Boson/fermion duality in Chern-Simons-matter theories

Our goal in this section is to write a more complete and precise version of (1.5)

$$N_f$$
 scalars with  $\mathrm{SU}(N)_K \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2}}$ 

$$N_f$$
 scalars with  $\mathrm{U}(N)_K \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $\mathrm{SU}(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2}}$ 

$$N_f$$
 scalars with  $U(N)_{K,K\pm N} \longleftrightarrow N_f$  fermions with  $U(K)_{-N+\frac{N_f}{2},-N\mp K+\frac{N_f}{2}}$ . (5.1)

Again, we point out that the third duality in (5.1) with the bottom sign is new, as it is based on the new level/rank duality (1.4). In addition to (5.1) we have four similar dualities obtained from these by reversing the orientation. These differ from (5.1) by a sign change of all the levels.

In this section we write the precise Lagrangians of these theories with the background fields and their necessary counterterms. This will allow us to turn these background fields into dynamical fields and to derive some consistency conditions (like deriving some of these dualities from the others), and to find additional dualities.

Before we do that we should review some facts about the fermion determinant in three dimensions. Consider a three-dimensional fermion coupled to a background spin<sub>c</sub> connection  $\mathcal{A}$  via the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{A}}$ 

$$i\overline{\psi} D_{\mathcal{A}} \psi$$
. (5.2)

Following [40, 41] the fermion determinant is

$$Z(\mathcal{A}) = |\det \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{A}}| e^{-\frac{i\pi}{2}\eta(\mathcal{A})}, \qquad (5.3)$$

where the sign in the exponent depends on the regularization and we pick it to be negative. If we give the fermion a positive mass and integrate it out, the low energy theory has no induced Chern-Simons term. And if the mass is negative, the low energy theory includes  $-\mathcal{I}[g,\mathcal{A}]$ .

In the literature it is common to refer to the fermion coupled to  $\mathcal{A}$  with this regularization as  $\mathrm{U}(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and describe it as having a bare counterterm  $-\mathcal{I}[g,\mathcal{A}]/2$ . We will follow this terminology and will refer to this theory as  $\mathrm{U}(1)_{-\frac{1}{2}}$ . But we will not add this improperly quantized Chern-Simons term. In more detail, although

$$e^{i\pi\eta(\mathcal{A})} = e^{i\mathcal{I}[g,\mathcal{A}]}, \qquad (5.4)$$

we can take the square root of the left had side as the meaningful and gauge invariant expression  $e^{i\pi\eta(A)/2}$  (which appears in (5.3)), but we cannot write the square root of the right hand side as  $e^{i\mathcal{I}[g,A]/2}$ , which is not meaningful.

In the various theories the gauge group is either  $\mathrm{SU}(L)$  or  $\mathrm{U}(L)$  with L being N in the scalar theories and K in the fermionic theories. As in section 2.4, we are going to represent the  $\mathrm{SU}(L)$  theory in terms of a  $\mathrm{U}(L)$  theory with a constraint. So our bosonic covariant derivative D includes a  $\mathrm{U}(N)$  gauge field and the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{D}$  includes  $\mathcal{A} = u + A\mathbb{I}$  with u a  $\mathrm{U}(K)$  gauge field and A a background  $\mathrm{spin}_c$  connection. Also, in the bosonic side of the duality we include a  $|\phi|^4$  term to denote the fact that the theory is at the corresponding Wilson-Fisher fixed point. We will elaborate on this potential momentarily.

We claim that the dualities (5.1) are

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_{K}}[B] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{N_{f}-N}}[B - (N - N_{f})A]$$

$$+ \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA + \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi}BdB - (N - N_{f})K\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(N)_{K}}[B + KA] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(K)_{N_{f}-N}}[-B]$$

$$- \frac{N - N_{f}}{2\pi}BdA + \frac{\epsilon_{N - N_{f}}}{4\pi}BdB - (N - N_{f})K\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B + (K \pm 1)A]$$

$$\longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{N_{f}-N,N_{f}-N\mp K}}[\pm B + (N_{f} - N + 1)A]$$

$$- \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA \mp \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB - ((N - N_{f})K \pm 1)\mathcal{I}[g, A],$$

$$(5.5)$$

and their orientation reversed ones are

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_{-K}}[B] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\, \not\!\!\!\!D\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{N}}[-B + NA]$$

$$- \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA - \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi}BdB + NK\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(N)_{-K}}[-B - KA] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\, \not\!\!\!\!D\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(K)_{N}}[-B]$$

$$+ \frac{N}{2\pi}BdA - \frac{\epsilon_{N}}{4\pi}BdB + NK\mathcal{I}[g, A]$$

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(N)_{-K,-K\mp N}}[-B - (K\pm 1)A] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\, \not\!\!\!\!D\psi$$

$$+ \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{N,N\pm K}}[\mp B + (N-1)A]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA \pm \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + (NK\pm 1)\,\mathcal{I}[g, A] .$$

$$(5.6)$$

For  $N_f = 0$  there are no matter fields and the dualities (5.5), (5.6) go over to the four level/rank dualities (4.10), (4.11), (4.15), (4.16)

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{K}}[B] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N}}[B-NA] + \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA + \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi}BdB - NK\mathcal{I}[g,A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[B+KA] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(K)_{-N}}[-B] - \frac{N}{2\pi}BdA + \frac{\epsilon_{N}}{4\pi}BdB - NK\mathcal{I}[g,A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] \longleftrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_{-N,-N\mp K}}[\pm B + (1-N)A] \mp \frac{1}{4\pi}BdB$$

$$-\frac{1}{2\pi}BdA - (NK\pm 1)\mathcal{I}[g,A] \tag{5.7}$$

and their orientation reversed versions. In fact, (5.5) is obtained from (5.7) by substituting  $N \to N - N_f$  in the fermionic theory and (5.6) is obtained by simply changing the signs of the levels.

For  $N_f = 1$  there is a single flavor of N scalars  $\phi^i$  (with i = 1, ..., N) and K fermions  $\psi^I$  (with I = 1, ..., K) and the  $|\phi|^4$  interaction is  $|\sum_i \overline{\phi}_i \phi^i|^2$ . The dualities refer to (assumed)

nontrivial IR theories, where the coefficient of the mass terms  $\sum_{I} \overline{\psi}_{I} \psi^{I}$  in the fermionic side and  $\sum_{i} \overline{\phi}_{i} \phi^{i}$  in the bosonic side are tuned to the fixed point. We denote this fine-tuned value of the mass by zero.

For  $N_f > 1$  the scalars and the fermions also have a flavor index  $\phi^{ia}$  and  $\psi^{Ia}$  (with  $a = 1, ..., N_f$ ).<sup>8</sup> Starting the bosonic theory at a free UV fixed point, the SU( $N_f$ )-invariant scalar potential can be a linear combination of Tr M, Tr  $M^2$ , and (Tr M)<sup>2</sup> with  $M_a^b = \sum_i \overline{\phi}_{ai} \phi^{ib}$ . We assume that this theory has a nontrivial IR fixed point with SU( $N_f$ ) global symmetry with a single SU( $N_f$ )-invariant relevant operator  $\sum_{Ia} \overline{\psi}_{aI} \psi^{Ia} \longleftrightarrow$  Tr M. The fixed point is achieved when the coefficient of this relevant operator is fine-tuned. Again, the duality refers to this IR theory.

In section 4 we related the dualities (5.7) by starting with one of them, adding counterterms and promoting background fields to dynamical fields. Exactly the same manipulations can be performed in (5.5). In particular, assuming one of these dualities, say the first one, we can derive the others.

In the special case  $N=N_f=K=1$  these dualities go over to the dualities studied in [14]. The bottom sign in the last duality in (5.5) is our new duality, which becomes in this case

$$|D\phi|^2 - |\phi|^4 + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_0}[B] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi} \mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_1}[-B+A] + \mathcal{I}[g, A-B]. \tag{5.8}$$

As a check, it can be derived from gauging B in equation (2.10) in [14]. Note that the left hand side is manifestly orientation-reversal invariant but the right hand is not. Its orientation-reversal invariance will be one of the fermion/fermion dualities in section 6.

Assuming any of these dualities with fixed values of the integers  $(N_f, N, K)$  we can deform the theory by a mass term for one of the flavors to derive a duality with fewer flavors. We turn on a mass term  $\sum_I \overline{\psi}_{N_f I} \psi^{IN_f}$  in the fermionic side and  $M_{N_f}^{N_f} = \sum_i \overline{\phi}_{N_f i} \phi^{iN_f}$  in the bosonic side. Unlike the similar supersymmetric dualities, here we still need to fine tune an  $\mathrm{SU}(N_f-1)$  invariant mass term in order to hit a nontrivial IR fixed point. In the fermionic side it is  $\sum_{aI} \overline{\psi}_{aI} \psi^{Ia}$  and in the bosonic side it is  $\mathrm{Tr}\,M = \sum_{ai} \overline{\phi}_{ai} \phi^{ia}$ .

In the bosonic side for one sign of the mass square the scalar becomes massive and we flow to the theory with  $(N_f - 1, N, K)$ . For the other sign of the mass square the gauge group is Higgsed and we flow to the theory with  $(N_f - 1, N - 1, K)$ . In the fermionic side of the duality these two flows correspond to different signs of the fermion mass. For positive mass there is no induced Chern-Simons term and for negative mass the Chern-Simons terms are shifted by  $-\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(K)_1}[u;A] - K\mathcal{I}[g,A]$  (recall that the fermion couples to  $u + A\mathbb{I}$  with u a  $\mathrm{U}(K)$  gauge field). This has the effect of shifting the level of the existing Chern-Simons terms in the fermionic side. The dualities (5.5) are consistent with these flows.

This discussion shows that the duality (5.1) might be problematic for  $N_f > N$ . In that case we can turn on masses and flow to N = 0. Now the left hand side of the duality is an empty gapped theory, while the theory in the right hand side seems like it is non-trivial.

It is instructive to understand the physical interpretation of the currents that the background fields B and A couple to in (5.5). The SU(L) theories are described in terms of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>We thank O. Aharony and S. Minwalla for a useful discussion on the following points.

 $\mathrm{U}(L)$  fields u with a Lagrange multiplier that sets  $\mathrm{Tr}\,u=-B$ . Therefore, in these theories B couples to the baryon number current. More precisely, in the fermionic  $\mathrm{SU}(K)$  theory (the right hand side of the second duality in (5.5)) the baryon current couples to B+KA, which is a background  $\mathrm{U}(1)$  field for even K and a spin $_c$  connection for odd K. Indeed, the baryons in this theory are bosons for even K and they are fermions for odd K. In the various  $\mathrm{U}(L)$  theories in (5.5) there is no baryon number symmetry and B couples to the monopole charge. Depending on the levels of the  $\mathrm{U}(L)$  Chern-Simons theory it is or is not a spin theory. (Recall that even when it is a spin theory, because of the coupling to A it is independent of the spin structure.) When it is a spin theory, its monopole operator is a fermion and it couples to a background  $\mathrm{spin}_c$  connection, and when it is not spin the monopole operator couples to a background  $\mathrm{U}(1)$  field. It is straightforward to check that the levels in (5.5) and the couplings to A and B are such that the monopole and baryon operators are mapped correctly between the two sides of the duality. This was studied in [26] and was one of the motivations of [27].

# 6 New boson/boson and fermion/fermion dualities

Our goal in this section is to use the conjectured boson/fermion dualities (5.5), (5.6) to derive new boson/boson and fermion/fermion dualities. We will mainly limit ourselves to  $N_f = 1$  and only discuss an example of  $N_f = 2$  in section 6.3.

#### 6.1 Boson/boson dualities

We set K=1 in the second duality of (5.5) and the second duality of (5.6) to find a triality

$$i\overline{\psi} \mathcal{D}_{A} \psi \longleftrightarrow |D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{1}}[A] + (N-1)\mathcal{I}[g, A] \longleftrightarrow |D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{-1}}[-A] - N\mathcal{I}[g, A],$$

$$(6.1)$$

where the  $\phi$  in the different Lagrangians are different fields. We see that all the interacting bosonic theories on the right hand side are dual to a theory of a single free fermion. Surprisingly, although their Lagrangians depend on N, their physics is independent of N. This amounts to an infinite set of dualities relating interacting bosonic theories.

The special case of N=1 leads to

$$|D\phi|^2 - |\phi|^4 + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_1}[A] \longleftrightarrow |D\phi|^2 - |\phi|^4 + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_{-1}}[-A] - \mathcal{I}[g, A],$$
 (6.2)

which agrees with equation (2.6) of [14].

Given these dualities we can act on them with T and S of (1.8) and find new dualities. These are infinitely many purely bosonic theories, which are dual to a single fermion coupled to dynamical gauge fields, which in general have some Chern-Simons couplings.

For example, starting with the duality between the first bosonic theory in (6.1) with general N and the second bosonic theory in (6.1) with N=1 we can add to the two sides of the duality the counterterms  $\frac{1}{2\pi}CdA + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC + (1-N)\mathcal{I}[g,A]$  and then gauge A by

substituting  $A \to A + u$  to find

$$|D\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{SU(N)_{1}}[C] \longleftrightarrow |D_{b}\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} - \left(\frac{1}{4\pi}bdb + \frac{1}{2\pi}bdu + \frac{N}{4\pi}udu\right)$$

$$- \frac{1}{2\pi}bdA + \frac{1}{2\pi}ud(C - NA) + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC + \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - N\mathcal{I}[g, A].$$
(6.3)

In the special case N = 1 we can integrate out u and (6.3) becomes the well-known particle-vortex duality.

#### 6.2 Fermion/fermion dualities

Next we look for fermion/fermion dualities. Set N = 1 in the first duality of (5.5) and the first duality of (5.6) to find the triality

$$|D_{-B}\phi|^{2} - |\phi|^{4} + \mathcal{L}_{0}[A] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{0}}[B] - \frac{K}{4\pi}BdB + \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA$$

$$\longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(K)_{1}}[-B+A] + \frac{K}{4\pi}BdB - \frac{K}{2\pi}BdA + K\mathcal{I}[g,A].$$
(6.4)

As in the previous subsection the fields  $\psi$  in these different dual Lagrangians are different fields. This leads to an infinite number of fermion/fermion dualities. The duality between the two fermionic theories with K = 1 in (6.4) agrees with equation (2.16) of [14] (up to a trivial use of charge conjugation).

Again, as in the previous section we consider the duality between the first fermionic Lagrangian in (6.4) with K=1 and the second one with arbitrary K. We add to the two sides the counterterms  $-\frac{K}{4\pi}BdB + \frac{1}{2\pi}Bd(-C+KA) + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC + \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - K\mathcal{I}[g,A]$  and gauge B by denoting it by u to find

$$i\overline{\psi}\,\mathcal{D}\psi + \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(K)_{1}}[C] \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\,\mathcal{D}_{b+A}\psi + \frac{1}{2\pi}bdu - \frac{K+1}{4\pi}udu + \frac{1}{2\pi}ud\left(-C + (K+1)A\right) + \frac{1}{4\pi}CdC + \frac{1}{2\pi}CdA - K\mathcal{I}[g,A]. \tag{6.5}$$

In the special case K=1 the duality (6.5) becomes after a trivial change of variables the fermion/fermion duality in equation (2.14) of [14]

$$i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}_A\psi \longleftrightarrow i\overline{\psi}\mathcal{D}_{b+A}\psi + \frac{1}{2\pi}bdu - \frac{2}{4\pi}udu + \frac{2}{2\pi}udA - \mathcal{I}[g,A].$$
 (6.6)

#### 6.3 Self-duality of QED with two fermions

In this section we are going to use the previous dualities to derive a fermion/fermion duality similar to that of [31]. Our derivation can be easily extended to lead to many other dualities.

We start by substituting  $A \to A + X$  in (6.6) and  $A \to A - X$  in its orientation reversed duality

where a, appearing as b + A in (6.6), is a dynamical spin<sub>c</sub> connection. (Note the parity anomaly.) We denoted the fermions in the right hand side by  $\chi$  to highlight that they are different than the fermions in the left hand side  $\psi$ .

The direct product of the theories (6.7) is described by the sum of their Lagrangians

where the indices 1 and 2 label the two sectors.

Next we gauge A by adding the counterterms  $\frac{1}{2\pi}AdY - \frac{1}{4\pi}YdY + \mathcal{I}[g,A]$  with Y is a background U(1) field (note that it is consistent with (2.3)) and then promoting A to a dynamical spin<sub>c</sub> connection a. This gauging couples the two sectors labeled by 1 and 2. In the right hand side we integrate out most of the gauge fields and are left with a single dynamical spin<sub>c</sub> connection  $\tilde{a}$ 

$$i\overline{\psi}_{1} \not\!\!\!D_{a+X} \psi^{1} + i\overline{\psi}_{2} \not\!\!\!D_{a-X} \psi^{2} + \frac{1}{4\pi} a da + \frac{1}{2\pi} a dY - \frac{1}{4\pi} Y dY + 2 \text{CS}_{\text{grav}}$$

$$\longleftrightarrow i\overline{\chi}_{1} \not\!\!\!D_{\widetilde{a}-Y} \chi^{1} + i\overline{\chi}_{2} \not\!\!\!D_{\widetilde{a}+Y} \chi^{2} + \frac{1}{4\pi} \widetilde{a} d\widetilde{a} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \widetilde{a} dX - \frac{1}{4\pi} X dX + 2 \text{CS}_{\text{grav}}. \tag{6.9}$$

The theory on the left hand side is QED coupled to two fermions  $\psi^1$  and  $\psi^2$ . The Chern-Simons term  $\frac{1}{4\pi}ada$  arises from our conventions of the fermion determinant (see the discussion around (5.2)–(5.4)). We will return to it below. This theory has a manifest  $\mathrm{SU}(2)^X \times \mathrm{U}(1)^Y$  global symmetry. X couples to the Cartan generator of  $\mathrm{SU}(2)^X$  and Y couples to the global  $\mathrm{U}(1)^Y$  symmetry associated with the connection a.

The theory on the right hand side is also QED coupled to two fermions  $\chi^1$  and  $\chi^2$ . It also has a manifest  $SU(2)^Y \times U(1)^X$  global symmetry. But here Y couples to the Cartan generator of  $SU(2)^Y$  and X couples to the global  $U(1)^X$  associated with the connection  $\widetilde{a}$ .

This means that the theory at the fixed point must have a global  $SU(2)^X \times SU(2)^Y = Spin(4)$  symmetry. Each dual description makes manifest only an  $SU(2) \times U(1)$  subgroup of it, but these are different subgroups. Equivalently, each of the Lagrangians in (6.9) has a classical  $SU(2) \times U(1)$  symmetry, but the quantum theory has an enhanced quantum  $SU(2) \times SU(2) = Spin(4)$  symmetry.

The way the classical global U(1) symmetry is enhanced to a global SU(2) quantum symmetry is common in supersymmetric dualities [32, 33], and in fact, this particular enhancement occurs in the  $\mathcal{N}=4$  supersymmetric version of this theory [32]. (See also [42] for a recent related discussion.)

Let us deform the theory on the left hand side of (6.9) by an SU(2) invariant mass term  $m\overline{\psi}_i\psi^i$  and find the low-energy theory

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}ada + \frac{1}{2\pi}adY - \frac{1}{4\pi}YdY + 2CS_{\text{grav}} \longleftrightarrow -\frac{2}{4\pi}YdY \quad \text{for } m > 0$$

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi}ada + \frac{1}{2\pi}adY - \frac{1}{4\pi}YdY - \frac{2}{4\pi}XdX - 2CS_{\text{grav}} \longleftrightarrow -\frac{2}{4\pi}XdX \quad \text{for } m < 0. \quad (6.10)$$

We find the same low-energy theories when we deform the theory on the right hand side of (6.9) by  $-m\overline{\chi}_i\chi^i$ . This means that the operators are mapped as  $\overline{\psi}_i\psi^i\longleftrightarrow -\overline{\chi}_i\chi^i$ .

We claim that our theory has a global  $SU(2)^X \times SU(2)^Y$  global symmetry and here we coupled background fields only to the Cartan generators. As a check of our claims we note

that the Lagrangians in (6.10) are normalized such that we can extend them by adding the other background fields for  $SU(2)^X \times SU(2)^Y$ 

$$U(1)_{-2}^{Y} \longrightarrow SU(2)_{-1}^{Y} \qquad \text{for } m > 0$$

$$U(1)_{-2}^{X} \longrightarrow SU(2)_{-1}^{X} \qquad \text{for } m < 0.$$

$$(6.11)$$

(In this particular case if X and Y become dynamical fields, there is no need to add degrees of freedom when moving from the left to the right as these theories are dual to each other.)

Next, we would like to compare our result (6.9) with [31]. In addition to fitting this duality into a large web of dualities, i.e. deriving it by assuming other, well-motivated dualities, our analysis has three key differences relative to [31].

- 1. We have formulated the theory with  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  connections such that our formulation of the theory does not depend on a choice of spin structure. In particular, our a and  $\tilde{a}$  are dynamical  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  connections and X and Y are background U(1) fields, which in the quantum theory can be extended to  $\operatorname{SU}(2)$  fields.
- 2. We are more precise about the definition of the fermion determinant (see the discussion around (5.2)–(5.4)). To relate to [31] we imprecisely describe each of our fermions that couples to some  $\mathcal{A}$  as having an improperly quantized Chern-Simons term  $-\frac{1}{8\pi}\mathcal{A}d\mathcal{A} \mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}}$ . This means that in order to compare with [31] we need to add in the left hand side of the duality  $-\frac{1}{4\pi}ada-\frac{1}{4\pi}XdX-2\mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}}$  and to add in the right hand side of the duality  $-\frac{1}{4\pi}\tilde{a}d\tilde{a}-\frac{1}{4\pi}YdY-2\mathrm{CS}_{\mathrm{grav}}$ . After doing that (6.9) is almost the same as the duality in [31]. To make them identical we also need to add to the two sides of the duality the counterterms  $\frac{1}{4\pi}(XdX+YdY)$ .
- 3. The counterterms  $\frac{1}{4\pi}(XdX + YdY)$  that we have to add to (6.9) in order to match with [31] are incompatible with (2.3). But what is worse is that if we add these counterterms and then deform the theory with fermion masses, the low-energy theory is  $\mathrm{U}(1)_{\pm 1}^X \times \mathrm{U}(1)_{\mp 1}^Y$  (see equation (5) in [31]), which unlike (6.10), (6.11) cannot be extended to  $\mathrm{SU}(2)^X \times \mathrm{SU}(2)^Y$ .

Finally, we have also established the Spin(4) global symmetry of the model, thus clarifying the relation to [31, 43] (once some counterterms are added). Note that we argued that the long distance behavior of the system is a non-trivial fixed point with a Spin(4) global symmetry. But that fixed point cannot be described by the strong coupling limit of a continuum Lagrangian based on a non-linear sigma model, whose target space is  $S^3$ . Such a continuum theory is non-renormalizable.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank O. Aharony, Z. Komargodski, S. Minwalla, E. Witten, and C. Xu for useful discussions. The work of P.H. is supported by Physics Department of Princeton University. NS was supported in part by DOE grant DE-SC0009988. NS gratefully acknowledges support from the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics, Stony Brook University at which some of the research for this paper was performed. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the funding agencies.

# A Often used equations

In this appendix we collect some useful equations.

The following terms are valid counterterms on  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  three-manifold (with B, C being U(1) gauge fields and A a  $\operatorname{spin}_c$  connection):

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}BdC$$

$$\frac{1}{4\pi}BdB + \frac{1}{2\pi}BdA$$

$$\mathcal{I}[g,A] \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi}AdA + 2CS_{\text{grav}}$$

$$16CS_{\text{grav}}.$$
(A.1)

 $U(N)_1$  is dual to a classical field theory

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_1}[b;A] = \frac{1}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^3 \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr}\,b) dA \longleftrightarrow -N\mathcal{I}[g,A]. \tag{A.2}$$

The Lagrangians for U(N) and SU(N) are

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[b;C+KA] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr} \, b) d \left( C + KA \right)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[b;C+(K\pm 1)A] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] \pm \frac{1}{4\pi} (\mathrm{Tr} \, b) d (\mathrm{Tr} \, b)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} (\mathrm{Tr} \, b) d \left( C + (K\pm 1)A \right)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{K}}[b,c;B] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi} (\mathrm{Tr} \, b) d (\mathrm{Tr} \, b) + \frac{1}{2\pi} cd \left( \mathrm{Tr} \, b + B \right)$$

$$\epsilon_{K} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{K even} \\ 1 & \text{K odd and positive} \\ -1 & \text{K odd and negative.} \end{cases} \tag{A.3}$$

And if we add to them the "trivial" theory, which includes the purely gravitational spin one-half line

$$\mathcal{L}_0[x,y;A] \equiv \frac{1}{4\pi}xdx + \frac{1}{2\pi}xd(y+A) \tag{A.4}$$

we have

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{K}}[B] \equiv \frac{K}{4\pi} \mathrm{Tr} \left[ bdb - \frac{2i}{3}b^{3} \right] + \frac{1}{2\pi} (c + KA)d(\mathrm{Tr}\,b + B) + \mathcal{L}_{0}[A] + \frac{\epsilon_{K}}{4\pi}BdB$$

$$\longleftrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{SU}(N)_{K}}[B] + \mathcal{L}_{0}[A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[B + KA] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{U}(N)_{K}}[B + KA] + \mathcal{L}_{0}[A]$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{U(N)_K}[B+KA] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{U(N)_K}[B+KA] + \mathcal{L}_0[A]$$

$$\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{U(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] \equiv \mathcal{L}_{U(N)_{K,K\pm N}}[B+(K\pm 1)A] + \mathcal{L}_0[A]. \tag{A.5}$$

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- [1] T. Nakanishi and A. Tsuchiya, Level rank duality of WZW models in conformal field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 144 (1992) 351 [INSPIRE].
- [2] F. Xu, Algebraic coset conformal field theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 211 (2000) 1 [math/9810035] [INSPIRE].
- [3] K.-H. Rehren, Algebraic Conformal QFT, in proceedings of The 3rd Meeting of the French-Italian Research Team on Noncommutative Geometry and Quantum Physics, Vietri sul Mare, Salerno, Italy (2009).
- [4] C. Pauly, Strange duality revisited, Math. Res. Lett. 21 (2014) 1353 [INSPIRE].
- [5] V. Ostrik and M. Sun, Level-Rank Duality Via Tensor Categories, Commun. Math. Phys. 326 (2014) 49 [arXiv:1208.5131].
- [6] P. Goddard, A. Kent and D.I. Olive, Virasoro Algebras and Coset Space Models, Phys. Lett. B 152 (1985) 88 [INSPIRE].
- [7] G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, Taming the Conformal Zoo, Phys. Lett. **B 220** (1989) 422 [INSPIRE].
- [8] S.G. Naculich, H.A. Riggs and H.J. Schnitzer, *Group Level Duality in WZW Models and Chern-Simons Theory*, *Phys. Lett.* **B 246** (1990) 417 [INSPIRE].
- [9] E.J. Mlawer, S.G. Naculich, H.A. Riggs and H.J. Schnitzer, Group level duality of WZW fusion coefficients and Chern-Simons link observables, Nucl. Phys. B 352 (1991) 863
   [INSPIRE].
- [10] S.G. Naculich and H.J. Schnitzer, Level-rank duality of the U(N) WZW model, Chern-Simons theory and 2-D qYM theory, JHEP 06 (2007) 023 [hep-th/0703089] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M.R. Douglas, Chern-Simons-Witten theory as a topological Fermi liquid, hep-th/9403119 [INSPIRE].
- [12] E. Witten, The Verlinde algebra and the cohomology of the Grassmannian, hep-th/9312104 [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Gapped Boundary Phases of Topological Insulators via Weak Coupling, arXiv:1602.04251 [INSPIRE].
- [14] N. Seiberg, T. Senthil, C. Wang and E. Witten, A Duality Web in 2+1 Dimensions and Condensed Matter Physics, arXiv:1606.01989 [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Closset, T.T. Dumitrescu, G. Festuccia, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Comments on Chern-Simons Contact Terms in Three Dimensions, JHEP 09 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1206.5218] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Giveon and D. Kutasov, Seiberg Duality in Chern-Simons Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0808.0360] [INSPIRE].
- [17] F. Benini, C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, Comments on 3d Seiberg-like dualities, JHEP 10 (2011) 075 [arXiv:1108.5373] [INSPIRE].

- [18] O. Aharony, S.S. Razamat, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, 3d dualities from 4d dualities, JHEP 07 (2013) 149 [arXiv:1305.3924] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J. Park and K.-J. Park, Seiberg-like Dualities for  $3d\ N=2$  Theories with SU(N) gauge group, JHEP 10 (2013) 198 [arXiv:1305.6280] [INSPIRE].
- [20] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, D=3 Bosonic Vector Models Coupled to Chern-Simons Gauge Theories, JHEP 03 (2012) 037 [arXiv:1110.4382] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Giombi, S. Minwalla, S. Prakash, S.P. Trivedi, S.R. Wadia and X. Yin, *Chern-Simons Theory with Vector Fermion Matter*, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2112 [arXiv:1110.4386] [INSPIRE].
- [22] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Correlation Functions of Large-N
  Chern-Simons-Matter Theories and Bosonization in Three Dimensions, JHEP 12 (2012) 028
  [arXiv:1207.4593] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M.A. Vasiliev, Holography, Unfolding and Higher-Spin Theory, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214013 [arXiv:1203.5554] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Jain, S. Minwalla and S. Yokoyama, Chern Simons duality with a fundamental boson and fermion, JHEP 11 (2013) 037 [arXiv:1305.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [25] G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, *Three Dimensional Bosonization From Supersymmetry*, *JHEP* 11 (2015) 013 [arXiv:1507.04378] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Radicevic, Disorder Operators in Chern-Simons-Fermion Theories, JHEP **03** (2016) 131 [arXiv:1511.01902] [INSPIRE].
- [27] O. Aharony, Baryons, monopoles and dualities in Chern-Simons-matter theories, JHEP 02 (2016) 093 [arXiv:1512.00161] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Karch and D. Tong, Particle-Vortex Duality from 3d Bosonization, arXiv:1606.01893 [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. Murugan and H. Nastase, Particle-vortex duality in topological insulators and superconductors, arXiv:1606.01912 [INSPIRE].
- [30] E. Witten, SL(2, Z) action on three-dimensional conformal field theories with Abelian symmetry, hep-th/0307041 [INSPIRE].
- [31] C. Xu and Y.-Z. You, Self-dual Quantum Electrodynamics as Boundary State of the three dimensional Bosonic Topological Insulator, Phys. Rev. B 92 (2015) 220416 [arXiv:1510.06032] [INSPIRE].
- [32] K.A. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Mirror symmetry in three-dimensional gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 513 [hep-th/9607207] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Aharony, A. Hanany, K.A. Intriligator, N. Seiberg and M.J. Strassler, Aspects of N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 67 [hep-th/9703110] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M.A. Metlitski, S-duality of u(1) gauge theory with  $\theta = \pi$  on non-orientable manifolds: Applications to topological insulators and superconductors, arXiv:1510.05663 [INSPIRE].
- [35] J.M. Maldacena, G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, *D-brane charges in five-brane backgrounds*, JHEP 10 (2001) 005 [hep-th/0108152] [INSPIRE].
- [36] T. Banks and N. Seiberg, Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity, Phys. Rev. **D** 83 (2011) 084019 [arXiv:1011.5120] [INSPIRE].

- [37] A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, Coupling a QFT to a TQFT and Duality, JHEP **04** (2014) 001 [arXiv:1401.0740] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L. Fidkowski, X. Chen and A. Vishwanath, Non-Abelian Topological Order on the Surface of a 3D Topological Superconductor from an Exactly Solved Model, Phys. Rev. X 3 (2013) 041016 [arXiv:1305.5851] [INSPIRE].
- [39] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, Generalized Global Symmetries, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- [40] L. Álvarez-Gaumé, S. Della Pietra and G.W. Moore, Anomalies and Odd Dimensions, Annals Phys. 163 (1985) 288 [INSPIRE].
- [41] E. Witten, Fermion Path Integrals And Topological Phases, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88 (2016) 035001 [arXiv:1508.04715] [INSPIRE].
- [42] S. Kachru, M. Mulligan, G. Torroba and H. Wang, Mirror symmetry and the half-filled Landau level, Phys. Rev. B 92 (2015) 235105 [arXiv:1506.01376] [INSPIRE].
- [43] T. Senthil and M.P.A. Fisher, Competing orders, non-linear  $\sigma$ -models and topological terms in quantum magnets, Phys. Rev. B 74 (2006) 064405 [cond-mat/0510459] [INSPIRE].